**RECEIVED**

**Dec 01 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
WILLIAM H. SEALS, JR., CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000796

---

Gabriel Barnhill and GSB Enterprises, LLC, ..... Respondents,

v.

J. Floyd Swilley, J. Floyd Swilley Investment Advisors,  
Laurel K. Swilley, SMG Partners, LLC, SMS Services, LP,  
WCP Limited, LLC, 809 Holdings, LP, QC Financing, LLC  
Heath Causey and Sage Financial Group, LLC, Defendants,

of which J. Floyd Swilley, Laurel Swilley and  
Heath Causey are the ..... Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Desa Ballard (S.C. Bar No. 498)

## ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Does a prior challenge as to the propriety of a specific order on appeal preclude this current appeal, which addresses application issues that arose after the first appeal concluded and which relate to application of the order following remand to the circuit court?
- II. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by failing to relieve Appellants from default judgment when it misapplied a prior order imposing sanctions upon Appellants?
- III. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by failing to relieve Appellants from default judgment when Appellants had sufficiently defended the action despite the imposition of sanctions upon Appellants?
- IV. Did the trial court err in its award of damages in the absence of pleading or evidentiary basis for actual and/or punitive damages?
- V. Did the trial court err by awarding prejudgment interest on a non-liquidated amount of damages, and by imposing punitive damages that were not supported by the record?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After a prior appeal concluded in December 2023, the case was remitted to the circuit court. This current appeal follows multiple ensuing orders of the circuit court that held Appellants in default and later granted judgment on behalf of Barnhill.

On August 4, 2021, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion that affirmed lower court orders and subsequently denied rehearing. (R. pp. 33-37). Appellants J. Floyd Swilley, Laurel K. Swilley, and Heath Causey (collectively referred to herein as “Appellants”) then petitioned the Supreme Court for certiorari on October 26, 2021, and certiorari was granted by order dated May 17, 2023. (R. pp. 40-41). Following briefing and oral argument, however, the Supreme Court dismissed certiorari as improvidently granted by order dated December 20, 2023. (R. pp. 42-43). The remittitur was filed on December 27, 2023. (R. pp. 44-45).

On January 19, 2024, Barnhill filed an Affidavit of Default, and later a Motion for Entry of Default on January 25, 2024, both premised upon the 2016 Order that had been affirmed in the recently concluded appeal. (R. pp. 195-221; R. pp. 222-223). The Clerk of Court entered an Order of Default on January 25, 2024. (R. pp. 46-48).

On January 26, 2024, Appellants filed a Motion for Relief from Entry of Default, challenging the default based upon the scope and effect of the affirmed 2016 Order, in addition to other good cause. (R. pp. 224-229).

On January 29, 2024 Barnhill filed a Motion for Default Judgment. (R. pp. 230-231). Appellants filed a Return to the Motion for Default Judgment on February 4, 2024. (R. pp. 232-234), and an amended Motion for Relief from Entry of Default on February 9, 2024. (R. pp. 235-240).

The circuit court filed a Form 4 Order on June 18, 2024, denying Appellants' Motion for Relief from Default and granting Barnhill's Motion for Default Judgment. (R. pp. 49-51). Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider. (R pp. 525-526). On July 15, that motion was denied. (R. pp. 52-54). A damages hearing was scheduled for September 12, 2023.

On September 3, 2024, Appellants filed a pre-trial brief. (R. pp. 530-549). On September 11, 2024, Appellants filed a Request for Judicial Notice pursuant to Rule 201(d), SCRE. (R. pp. 550-593). The damages hearing was held on September 12, 2024. Appellants and their counsel appeared and participated as permitted. The Court issued an Order of Judgment on November 6, 2024. (R. pp. 55-57).

Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider, challenging the lack of factual basis for the award of damages or punitive damages, and failed to address the request for judicial notice that had been taken under advisement at the hearing. (R. pp. 594-597). Barnhill also filed a Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend the order, seeking prejudgment interest and other additional relief. (R. p. 598-606).

On April 2, 2025, the circuit court issued an Order Addressing the Rule 59(e) motions, denying the motion from Appellants and granting relief requested by Barnhill. (R p. 58-63). Appellants timely filed and served a Notice of Appeal on April 25, 2025. (R. pp.650-662).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

In April 2013, Appellants Gabriel Barnhill and GSB Enterprises, Inc. (collectively "Barnhill") commenced suits against numerous parties, to include Defendants J. Floyd Swilley, Laurel K. Swilley, and Heath Causey (collectively referred to herein as "Appellants"), presenting

claims arising from a failed business enterprise. The Appellants filed an Answer and later Amended Answer and Counterclaim.

The parties thereafter had numerous disputes regarding discovery and a number of orders were issued addressing the same. In December 2015, Barnhill filed a motion to compel discovery that sought sanctions against the Appellants, and a separate motion seeking judgment on the pleadings and/or summary judgment in Plaintiff's favor with respect to counterclaims presented by the Appellants against Barnhill.

Prior to the hearing on those motions, counsel for the Floyd and Laurel Swilley was relieved from his duties as counsel, with the order further providing:

The Defendants shall obtain new legal counsel to represent them in this matter within thirty (30) days from the date of this Order. The proceedings in this case will be held in abeyance for thirty (30) days from the date of this Order. . .

(Order dated January 25, 2016) (emphasis added). (R. pp. 12-14). Within the period of abeyance, on February 16, 2016, a hearing was held on the multiple Barnhill motions that sought sanctions and dismissal of the Appellants' counterclaims. The Appellants were not present at that hearing. The next day, February 17, 2016, a Form 4 Order was filed, indicating the motion to strike pleadings was granted, and that Barnhill was granted summary judgment as to counterclaims against Barnhill brought by various defendants. (R p. 15).

On March 21, 2016, a formal order granting the motions was filed (hereinafter referred to as the "2016 Order"), which articulated and provided specific relief as follows:

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT the Answer, Counterclaim and other pleadings of J. Floyd Swilley, Laurel K. Swilley, Heath Causey, 809 Holdings, LP and WCP Limited, LLC are hereby stricken,

And IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that all counterclaims are dismissed with prejudice;

And IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Affidavit of William Piner is stricken;

And IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Plaintiffs shall serve their Motion for Attorney Fees and Affidavit for Attorney Fees upon the Defendants with the Motion for Attorney Fees to be heard by the presiding judge at the next term of court;

AND IT IS SO ORDERED.

(R. pp.17-23).

In response, Appellants filed motions seeking amendment of that order pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, both because the hearing was held during the period of abeyance and lack of notice of the hearing. (R. pp. 177-178; R. pp. 179-180). While the order was being reconsidered, the Appellants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with supporting affidavits on May 13, 2016. (R. pp. 181-192). That motion has never been considered or ruled upon by the circuit court, although it remained pending following remand from the Court of Appeals.

Those motions for reconsideration were denied by order entered May 25, 2016. (R. pp. 27-32). Appellants thereafter timely appealed to the Court of Appeals on June 16, 2016, challenging the propriety of the 2016 Order, chiefly on the basis of deficient notice of the scheduled hearing and contention that the prior order holding the case in abeyance for a period to allow for obtaining new legal counsel should have precluded the hearing on the motions that occurred on February 16, 2015, in their absence.

On August 4, 2021, after briefing by the parties but without oral argument, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion that affirmed the 2016 Order. (R. pp.33-37). The stated basis for the opinion, as set forth in the numbered paragraphs contained therein, were as follows:

(1) disagreement that adequate service had not been made,

- (2) disagreement that the hearing was held during the time in which the case remained in abeyance,
- (3) disagreement that genuine issues of material fact remained,
- (4) disagreement that the Appellants did not have a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery,
- (5) disagree that granting summary judgment as a sanction was improper, and
- (6) the argument that the trial court relied upon false statements and misrepresentations by legal counsel was not preserved.

The Court of Appeals subsequently denied rehearing. (R. pp.38-39). The Appellants then petitioned the Supreme Court for writ of certiorari, which was granted on May 17, 2023. (R. pp. 40-41). After full briefing by the parties and oral argument, the Supreme Court dismissed certiorari as improvidently granted by order filed on December 20, 2023. (R. pp. 42-43). The Remittitur was filed with the trial court on December 27, 2023. (R. pp. 44-45).

Following remand, on January 19, 2024, Barnhill filed an Affidavit of Default, and later a Motion for Entry of Default on January 25, 2024, both premised upon the 2016 Order that had been affirmed in the recently concluded appeal. (R. pp. 195-221; R. pp. 222-223). The Clerk of Court entered an Order of Default on January 25, 2024. (R. pp. 46-48).

On January 26, Appellants filed a Motion for Relief from Entry of Default, seeking to have the default set aside based upon the scope and effect of the affirmed 2016 Order, in addition to other good cause. (R. pp. 224-229).

On January 29, Barnhill filed a Motion for Default Judgment. (R. pp.230-231). Appellants filed a Return to the Motion for Default Judgment on February 4. (R. pp.232-234), and an amended Motion for Relief from Entry of Default on February 9, 2026. (R. pp.235-240).

The circuit court filed a Form 4 Order on June 18, 2024, denying Appellants' Motion for Relief from Default and granting Barnhill's Motion for Default Judgment, although damages remained to be determined. (R. pp.49-51). Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider. (R. pp. 525-526). On July 15, that motion was denied. (R. pp. 52-54).

On September 11, 2024, in anticipation of the scheduled damages hearing upcoming, Appellants filed a Request for Judicial Notice pursuant to Rule 201(d), SCRE. (R. pp. 550-593). The matters referenced in that request were related to prior litigation between relevant parties, and Plaintiff Barnhill's divorce records on file with the clerk's office. Those records indicated that Barnhill had previously, in connection with securing his divorce and attendant property division agreement, reported that his claim he was still pursuing against Appellants had no value.

A damages hearing was held on September 12, 2024, during which Barnhill could not explain large, round-numbered deposits of funds into his account during the time he was involved in the pawn shop in which he had invested. Barnhill otherwise did not provide a sufficient factual record to supplement his initial pleadings, which had been deemed admitted when Appellants were placed in default, to support his contentions of damages. At the conclusion of the damages hearing, the trial judge took matters under advisement before issues an order in favor of Barnhill.

The Court thereafter issued an Order of Judgment on November 6, 2024. (R. pp. 55-57). The order included no ruling on the Motion for Judicial Notice. Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider, challenging the lack of factual basis for the award of damages or punitive damages, and pointing out that the trial court failed to address the request for judicial notice that had been

taken under advisement at the hearing. (R. pp.594-597). Barnhill also filed a Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend the order, seeking prejudgment interest and other additional relief. (R. pp.598-606).

On April 2, 2025, the circuit court issued an Order Addressing the Rule 59(e) motions, denying the motion from Appellants while granting relief requested by Barnhill. (R. pp. 58-63). In so doing, the Court awarded both punitive damages and pre-judgment interest. Appellants timely filed and served a Notice of Appeal on April 25, 2025. (R. pp. 650-662).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. PRIOR CHALLENGE AS TO THE PROPRIETY OF AN ORDER DOES NOT PRECLUDE REVIEW OF NEW ISSUES ARISING FROM APPLICATION OF THE ORDER.**

Appellants appealed the 2016 Order on the basis that it was the procedurally improper fruit of a hearing that never should have gone forward in their absence for reasons of lack of notice and continued period of abeyance that had stayed the matter while the Appellants were allowed to seek successor legal counsel. The Court of Appeals issued its decision, however, that affirmed the propriety of the order generally. (R. pp. 33-37). In this appeal, Appellants do not challenge the legitimacy of the 2016 Order or seek to re-litigate those issues raised previously on appeal. Nor could they. “Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were... raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court.” *Judy v. Martin*, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153, 381 S.C. 455, 458 (2009).

The *Judy* opinion also makes clear that any issues that “should have been” raised on appeal are likewise governed by the law-of-the-case doctrine. *Id.* However, it is noteworthy that the 2016 Order was appealed by the Appellants immediately upon its issuance, before that order had been the basis for any further action or application after the order was entered. Following remittitur,

however, the trial court necessarily had authority for, and did, conduct further proceedings in reliance thereon. That included giving effect to and applying the now-confirmed-as-binding 2016 Order.

It was only then that competing interpretations as to how the text of the 2016 Order should be interpreted and applied arose, and as such created a new legal and factual dispute. Not only had such interpretations not yet been addressed or ruled upon by any court, appellate or circuit, it could not have been raised previously on appeal, since no application had yet occurred. Merely hypothetical application or rulings could not be challenged during the prior appeal, as there would not have been a justiciable issue ripe for review. See *Waters v. S.C. Land Res. Conservation Comm'n*, 321 S.C. 219, 467 S.E.2d 913 (1996) (“A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is ripe and appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a contingent, hypothetical, or abstract dispute.”). Whereas the prior appeal challenged the propriety of the issuance of the 2016 order, now at issue is the subsequent *application* of the order. As such, Appellants do not seek to re-litigate any issue previously addressed, or that could have been addressed, by this Court, but instead present a ripe set of new and subsequent interpretation issues that are appropriate for review, as they are not precluded by the prior appeal.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY FAILING TO RELIEVE DEFAULT AND DEFAULT JUDGMENT PREMISED UPON THE 2016 ORDER.**

“The power to set aside a default is exercised within the sound discretion of the trial court whose decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion.” *Hill v. Dotts*, 547 S.E.2d 894, 345 S.C. 304 (S.C. App. 2001). “The discretion given to the trial court in deciding whether to grant relief from default makes clear the party requesting a judgment by default is not entitled to one as of right, even when the defendant is technically in

default. Courts should closely scrutinize default judgments to prevent harsh results and drastic action. It is the policy of the law to favor the trial of cases on the merits.” *Ex parte Trustgard Insurance Co.*, 442 S.C. 485, 900 S.E.2d 448, 461 (Ct. App. 2023)(internal citations omitted). “An abuse of discretion in setting aside a default judgment occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law.” *Id.*

**A. The 2016 Order does not provide a legitimate basis for default or default judgment.**

The first action in the matter following the December 27, 2023 remittitur was Barnhill’s filing of an Affidavit of Default on January 19, 2024. (R. pp. 195-221). The content of the affidavit consisted of mere procedural history references to the 2016 Order, followed by reconsideration and then appeal thereof, eventually leading to remittitur. Attached as exhibits to the affidavit were copies of relevant orders within that procedural history. Subsequent Motion for Entry of Default filed by Barnhill expressly stated that the “Motion is based on the Order filed on Mach 21, 2016, which affirmed on appeal as indicated in the [affidavit of default] filed on January 19, 2024.” (R. p. 223). Accordingly, the effort and asserted basis for placing the Appellants in default was entirely and exclusively premised upon application of the 2016 Order as interpreted. Yet the order itself lacks a basis for default or judgment thereon as part of its sanctioning effect.

1. Default judgment was considered but rejected for an alternative in the 2016 Order.

Discovery violations afford the Court with a range of possible sanctions to be employed as appropriate and desired within the trial court’s discretion. *Kershaw Co. Bd. of Educ. v. U.S. Gypsum Co.*, 302 S.C. 390, 396 S.E.2d 369 (1990)). Notably, the Court was aware of the range of options and the existence of its discretion to implement its choice when the 2016 Order noted:

If a party fails to provide or permit discovery, the trial court may impose sanctions such as striking pleadings, or rendering a default judgment. Rule 37(b)(c), SCRC.P.

*Griffin Grading v. Tire Service Equipment Manufacturing Company, Inc.*, 511 S.E.2d 716, 718 (S.C. App. 1999).

2016 Order, p. 4 (emphasis added). (R. p. 20).

In making reference to those two specific options, while separating the two options with the conjunction “or,” the options were clearly referenced and recognized as discrete alternatives, not coextensive or matched sanctions. As such, they should rightly be treated as considered alternatives, with the first more limited, and the second more damning. See *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 744 S.E.2d 566 (2013)(limiting a party in default’s participation to cross-examination and objection to the plaintiff’s evidence).

The remainder of the order makes clear the Court’s election of the lesser option, which acts to simultaneously confirm the rejection of the greater sanction. Cf. *German Evangelical v. City of Charleston*, 352 S.C. 600, 607, 576 S.E.2d 150 (2003)(referencing the Latin phrases “*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*” or “*inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*,” defined in Black’s Law Dictionary 602 (7th ed. 1999) as to “to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.”)(citing *Hodges v. Rainey*, 533 S.E.2d 578, 341 S.C. 79 (2000)).

In other words, while the trial court had recognized and referenced its authority to grant default judgment as a sanction, the actual effect of the order was to decline to enter default judgment. This was still accompanied by consequence, as the striking of pleadings was the sort of sanction still considered “extreme” and “harsh medicine” in the view of the Supreme Court. *Welch v. Advance Auto. Parts, Inc.*, Appellate 2023-001096, Opinion 28284 (S.C. May 21, 2025). But it was nevertheless not so broad and effective to completely neuter any ability on the part of Appellants to raise a liability defense.

2. Striking of pleadings was not done with prejudice.

While the 2016 Order simply elected and referenced the striking of the “Answer, Counterclaim and other pleadings” of the Appellants, the text of the order also specifically provided that “all counterclaims are dismissed *with prejudice*.” (R. p. 23) (emphasis added). Disposing of certain portions of the Appellant’s case expressly “with prejudice,” yet otherwise striking pleadings more generally without such prejudicial language noted or stated, again indicates distinguishable treatment with a different scope and permanent effect, with the 2016 Order electing again the (comparatively) lesser sanction.<sup>1</sup>

**B. Terms of the 2016 Order do not nullify or preclude motion for summary judgment.**

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