**RECEIVED**

**Nov 21 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
WILLIAM H. SEALS, JR., CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Appellate Case No. 2025-000796

---

Gabriel Barnhill and GSB Enterprises, LLC, Respondents,

v.

J. Floyd Swilley, J. Floyd Swilley Investment Advisors, Laurel K. Swilley, SMG Partners, LLC,  
SMS Services, LP, QC Financing, LLC, Heath Causey and Sage Financial Group, LLC,  
Defendants,

of which J. Floyd Swilley, Laurel Swilley and Heath Causey are the Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Nate Fata (S.C. Bar No. 9866)  
Nate Fata, P.A.  
Post Office Box 16620

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

#### **A. The law of the case and error preservation rules bar Appellants’ meritless arguments on the March 2016 Order.**

All of Appellants’ “competing interpretations” arguments concerning the March 2016 Order are barred by the law of the case doctrine. In addition, none of the six arguments was preserved. Appellants failed to timely raise any of the six arguments in the trial court, get a ruling on any of the arguments, or file a Rule 59(e) motion articulating any of them.

1. The law of the case bars Appellants' arguments on the March 2016 Order.

In March 2016, the trial court held that Defendants engaged in a well-documented pattern of discovery obstruction, and Plaintiffs were prejudiced by the discovery obstruction. (R.pp. 17-23). As a result, the trial court determined it was a reasonable and appropriate sanction to strike Defendants' Answers and pleadings. Appellants did not appeal the trial court's 2016 ruling that "Defendants have for more than two years obstructed the discovery process and have prejudiced Plaintiffs' ability to prepare for trial." March 2016 Order, p. 4. (R.p. 20). In their prior appeal, Swilley and Causey did not raise any issue as to the appropriateness of the trial court's decision to strike their pleadings based on Defendants' well-documented pattern of discovery obstruction. Thus, the March 2016 Order and May 2016 Order as to the appropriateness of the Court's decision to strike Defendants' Answers and pleadings are based on a well-documented pattern of discovery obstruction and are the law of the case. (R.p. 20). The 2016 Orders are the law of the case and preclude Appellants from arguing at this time that "good cause" exists for them to be relieved from the court ordered consequences of their discovery obstruction nine years ago. At the June 18, 2024 hearing, Judge Culbertson agreed that the law of the case precluded Appellants from being able to file an answer after the Court of Appeals affirmed the March 2016 Order striking their Answers. (R.p. 698, line 5- p. 700, line 18).

An unappealed ruling is the law of the case. *Anderson v. Short*, 323 S.C. 522, 476 S.E.2d 475 (1996) (stating that where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed grounds will become the law of the case). Under the doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either (i) not raised on appeal, but should have been, or (ii) raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court. See *Bakala v. Bakala*, 252 S.C. 612, 576 S.E.2d

156 (2003) (holding that a family court judge could not overrule the prior unappealed order of another family court judge because it had become law of the case); *In re: Morrison*, 321 S.C. 370 n.2, 468 S.E.2d 651 n.2 (1996) (noting that an unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case and precludes further consideration of the issue on appeal). Any arguments as to the appropriateness of the March 2016 Order striking Appellants' Answers and pleadings for discovery obstruction which prejudiced Barnhill and GSB are barred under the law of the case doctrine.

2. Error preservation rules preclude Appellants' arguments.

Even if the law of the case doctrine did not bar Appellants' current arguments on the March 2016 Order, well established error preservation rules do. "Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court." *Caldwell v. Wiquist*, 402 S.C. 565, 576, 741 S.E.2d 583, 589 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting *Elam v. S.C. Department of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-780 (2004)). If the issue was not ruled upon by the trial court and raised in a post-trial motion, then the issue may not be considered on appeal. *Pelican Building Centers of Horry -Georgetown, Inc. v. Dutton*, 311 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). "It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved." *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). *Summer v. Carpenter*, 328 S.C. 36, 43, 492 S.E.2d 55, 58 (1997) (where trial judge did not rule on issue at trial and party did not make Rule 59(e) motion for a ruling, issue is not preserved for review); When a party raises an issue and the judge does not rule on it, the party must file a Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. *I'on, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 421, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (in discussion of additional sustaining grounds, Court reiterated the "important principle that all parties should raise all necessary issues

and argument to the lower court and attempt to obtain a ruling”); Rule 210(c), SCACR (record on appeal shall not include matter which was not presented to lower court.).

In June 2024, the trial court denied Swilley and Causey’s Motion for Relief from Entry of Default and held them in default on a Form 4 Order. (“Defendant Swilley Motion for Relief from Entry of Default is denied.”)(R.p. 49). The June 2024 Order also ruled, “A hearing to determine damages and relief sought in plaintiff’s complaint will be scheduled.”). (R.p. 49). Appellants agreed that a Form 4 Order would suffice. (Court: “Now does anybody need a formal order or will a Form 4 Order suffice?” Ms. Ballard: “I think a Form 4 will suffice as long as you add to it that I can appear and participate by cross examination.”). (R.p. 700, lines 21-25). And Swilley and Causey raised only one argument in their June 2024 Rule 59(e) Motion, which is different from the arguments they now make on appeal. In that Motion, Appellants argued, “The Defendants will show that in the absence of directives from the appellate court and in the absence of a controlling rule, there is no law in South Carolina on how long and under what circumstances a defendant has to answer a Complaint following a remand from an appellate court’s affirming of an order striking defendants’ pleading. It was inappropriate for the Plaintiff to seek and obtain entry of default against the moving party.” (R.pp. 525-526). Appellants did not object to Judge Culbertson’s ruling on scheduling a damages hearing. (R.pp. 525-526).

The issue raised on appeal must be the same as that which was raised below. Where the appellate argument differs from the trial court argument, the issue is not preserved. *State v. McCray*, 332 S.C. 536, 506 S.E.2d 301 (1998); *Anderson v. Short*, 323 S.C. 522, 476 S.E.2d 475 (1996) (where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the Appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case). In addition, the issue must be raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. *S.C.*

*Dept. of Transportation v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007). “When an issue presented to the circuit court in a civil case is not explicitly ruled upon in the final order, the issue must be raised by an appropriate post-trial motion to be preserved for appellate review.” *Siau v. Kassel*, 369 S.C. 631, 632 S.E.2d 888, 894 (Ct. App. 2006).

Because Appellants’ current six grounds for argument on the June 2024 Order were not raised in the trial court, or explicitly addressed by the trial court in its Form 4 Order filed June 18, 2024, or raised in Appellants’ June 2024 Rule 59(e) Motion, they have not been preserved. In addition, Appellants did not file a Rule 59(e) Motion on the June 2024 Order’s ruling that the matter would be scheduled for a damages hearing. Thus, Appellants have failed to preserve any issue as to the appropriateness of the damages hearing.

**B. Appellants’ arguments on the March 2016 Order are baseless.**

Beyond the error preservation analysis, each of Appellants’ arguments is without merit and without legal support. The trial court committed no abuse of discretion in denying Swilley and Causey’s Motion for Relief from Entry of Default.

1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellants’ Motion for Relief from Default.

The standard for granting relief from an entry of default is “good cause” as prescribed by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 55(c), SCRCP (“For good cause shown the court may set aside an entry of default...”); see *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501 (Ct. App. 1989) (explaining the standard for granting relief under Rule 55(c) is “good cause”). “This standard requires a party seeking relief from an entry of default ... to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default

entry would serve the [396 S.C. 145] interests of justice.” *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 373 S.C. 601, 607, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009). Swilley and Causey ignore this standard and do not address it in their Brief.

The trial court committed no abuse of discretion or error of law in denying Appellants’ request to be relieved of default. Appellants were served with the Complaint in 2013. Swilley’s and Causey’s Answers (including affirmative defenses) were struck by the trial court in 2016 due to their well-documented pattern of discovery obstruction which prejudiced the Plaintiffs. (R.pp. 17-23). The March 2016 Order was affirmed on appeal and is the law of the case. Swilley and Causey were in default in 2016. See *Stark Truss v. Superior Construction Corp.*, 360 S.C. 503, 509, 602 S.E.2d 99 (Ct. App. 2004) (“Appellants clearly failed to file an answer within thirty days of service of the summons and complaint upon them, and they were technically in default.”). Whether to grant relief from entry of default was within the trial court’s discretion. *Stark*, 360 S.C. at 510. The issue on appeal is whether the trial court’s determination is supportable by the evidence and not controlled by an error of law. *Id.*

Eleven years after this action was commenced, the trial court was well within its discretion to deny Swilley and Causey’s request to be relieved from default due to their well-documented pattern of discovery obstruction that prejudiced Barnhill and GSB. Appellants erroneously assert on page 10 of their Brief, “Yet the order itself lacks a basis for default or judgment thereon as part of its sanctioning effect.” To the contrary, as a sanction for two plus years of discovery obstruction, the trial court struck Appellants’ Answers and pleadings, which rendered them in default. Additionally, a trial court judge in 2024 could not overrule the March 2016 Order and May 2016 Order which struck Appellants’ Answers and pleadings. South Carolina case law holds that one Circuit Court judge should not overrule the decision of another

Circuit Court judge in the same matter. See *Tisdale v. American Life Insurance Co.*, 216 S.C. 10, 56 S.E.2d 150 (1950); *Dickens v. Robbins*, 203 S.C. 199, 26 S.E.2d 689 (1943).

Appellants' appeal, if granted, would disregard the law of the case, render meaningless the 2016 decision of Circuit Court Judge McIntosh and the 2021 holding of the Court of Appeals, and eliminate the consequences of their well-documented discovery obstruction over two years which prejudiced Barnhill and GSB. In summary, the interests of justice would not be served by allowing Appellants to answer a Complaint eight years after the trial court struck their Answers based on a well-documented pattern of discovery obstruction which prejudiced Barnhill and GSB.

2. The March 2016 Order striking Appellants' Answers does not preclude a judgment from being entered after a damages hearing.

On page 10 of their Brief, Appellants err in their analysis of the March 2016 Order and SCRCP, Rule 37 in an attempt to argue the March 2016 Order prevents the entry of a judgment after a damages hearing because in 2016 the trial court could have entered a default judgment in its March 2016 Order, but declined to do so and, therefore, another judge could not later enter a judgment against them. Appellants then conclude that they should be relieved from the entry of default and any judgment resulting from the trial court striking their Answer and pleadings. Appellants cite no case law which supports any contention that when a trial court strikes a party's answer based on that party's repeated discovery obstruction, a judgment may not be entered at a later time. An issue is deemed abandoned on appeal if it is argued in a short conclusory statement without supporting authority. *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 439 S.E.2d 283 (Ct. App. 1993).

The March 2016 Order could not enter a default judgment against Swilley and Causey because (1) the Complaint requested, in part, punitive damages, and attorney fees, which are

unliquidated and require a later hearing, (2) the March 2016 Order provided that a later hearing would be held at the next term of court for attorney fees, and (3) written notice of any damages hearing was required under SCRCF, Rule 55(b) as Swilley and Causey had already appeared in the action. (R.p. 89; p. 20).

SCRCF, Rule 55(b)(2) provides, in part, “If the party against whom judgment by default is sought has appeared in that action, the party, or, if appearing by representative shall be served with written notice of the application for judgment at least 3 days prior to the hearing and such application.” Thus, a judgment against Appellants who were in default could only be entered at a damages hearing sometime after the March 2016 Order, and after written notice of the damages hearing was provided. See *Stark Truss Co., Inc. v. Superior Construction Corp.*, 360 S.C. 503, 511, 602 S.E.2d. 99 (Ct. App. 2004). In addition, the March 2016 Order provided that attorney fees were to be awarded in a separate motion at the next term of court. March 2016 Order, p. 7. (R.p. 23). Moreover, if there is any ambiguity in the 2016 Order, which Appellants appear to argue, then Appellants waived any such ambiguity argument by not raising it in the prior appeal, or to the trial court or in any Rule 59(e) Motion.

3. Appellants’ argument that the striking of their answer was temporary because the March 2016 Order did not include the phrase “with prejudice” is baseless.

Without any legal support, Appellants argue on Page 11 of their Brief an interpretation of the March 2016 Order which was not raised in the earlier appeal or in the trial court. In particular, Appellants argue that the March 2016 Order lacks the phrase “with prejudice,” and, therefore, the striking of their Answers and pleadings after their two years of discovery obstruction was only temporary. Appellants have not preserved this issue as it was not raised to or ruled upon by the trial court. Moreover, Appellants cite no case law to support this position or

standard. Contrary to Appellants' position, South Carolina case law holds that one circuit court judge cannot overrule another circuit court judge. Another judge could not "unstrike" their Answers. Appellants were in default. Appellants' argument disregards case law, the law of the case, and the record.

4. Appellants' argument that Swilleys' summary judgment motion should have been heard is baseless.

Appellants did not raise any pending summary judgment motion argument in their June 2024 Rule 59 (e) Motion and have not preserved it. (R.pp. 525-526). Any procedural irregularity must be timely objected to or else it is waived. *Coon v. Coon*, 356 S.C. 342, 588 S.E.2d 624, 628 (Ct. App. 2003) (stating that as a general rule where there is no lack of subject matter jurisdiction, the court's judgment will be binding, even if affected by irregularity which would have defeated the proceeding if objection had been timely and properly made); *Bakala v. Bakala*, 352 S.C. 612, 629, 576 S.E.2d 156, 165 (2003) (Objections to personal jurisdiction, unlike subject matter jurisdiction, are waived unless raised.). Similarly, Appellants did not contest the June 2024 Order on the grounds that scheduling a damages hearing was not appropriate. Appellants have waived all arguments on the appropriateness of the damages hearing.

After the March 2016 Order, Adler, then counsel for Swilley only, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on May 13, 2016. Swilley now argues on page 13 of the Brief that their Motion for Summary Judgment should have been heard. Causey did not file any Motion for Summary Judgment. The Swilley Motion for Summary Judgment argued that no damages were suffered by Barnhill or GSB. However, Swilley was in default due to having no answer. As a result, their argument was moot as all Complaint allegations were deemed admitted once they were in default.

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